OIR 1-7-93

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

11 MPRÉME COL CLERK,

TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY and THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioners,

v.

a

CASE NO. 79,496

JOHN LEWIS RUSSELL, 111,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS, TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY AND STATE OF FLORIDA

Lawson L. Lamar State Attorney Ninth Judicial Circuit William C. Vose Chief Assistant State Attorney Florida Bar No. 0165831 P.O. Box 1673 Orlando, FL 32802 (407) 836-2425 Attorneys for State of Florida

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, The Times Publishing Company, the Miami Herald Publishing Company, and the State of Florida seek review of a decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal holding that the Times and the Herald had failed to show the "good cause" necessary for unsealing judicial records of Florida's Ninth Judicial Circuit Court relating to criminal charges against a John Lewis Russell, 111. This Court has accepted jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution ("conflict jurisdiction").

The Times Publishing Company is referred to herein as "the Times," the Miami Herald Publishing Company is referred to herein as "the Herald," and the State of Florida is referred to herein as "the State." Collectively where appropriate, these parties are referred to herein as "the Petitioners." Respondent John Lewis Russell, III is referred to herein as "Russell." References to the Record on Appeal are denoted as "R. ______

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

John Lewis Russell, III is a private investigator and the founder and chief executive officer of the Bureau of Missing Children, Inc., a charitable fund-raising organization which solicits money from the public, having collected in excess of a million and a half dollars through, in Russell's attorney's words, "phone room operations, basically cold call solicitors[] ... [w]e are talking about boiler rooms" (R. 191-192).

In March of 1989 the Herald, later joined by the Times, began

their now three-year-long effort to unseal court records reflecting Russell's intercourse with Florida's criminal justice system. It was then that the Herald moved to vacate court orders perpetually withdrawing from public view judicial records concerning three incidents in which Russell was arrested in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit (Tampa, Florida), in 1979, 1981 and 1984 on firearm, theft and cocaine charges, respectively. Although all records at present remain sealed, the details of Russell's arrests in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit were fully set forth by his attorney both before the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Court in a hearing on the Herald's motion to unseal the court files and in Russell's appellate briefs before the Second District. See Russell v. Miami Herald Publishing Co., 570 So.2d 979, 980 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), and R. 156-185; 186-194. The details of those arrests are as follows.

I. The Tampa files and proceedings.

In 1979, Russell was arrested in a Tampa convenience store for the felony of carrying a concealed firearm. As a felony conviction would have jeopardized his private investigator's license, Russell pled nolo contendere to a misdemeanor charge of carrying a concealed weapon, the court withheld adjudication, and Russell was placed on probation. In February 1980, represented by attorney Richard Blunt, who in January 1980 had left the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit State Attorney's office, Russell filed a "motion to expunge" all official records relating to his arrest (R. 160, 189, 194). Russell eventually obtained orders sealing the felony and misdemeanor court files on June 6, 1980 and October 3, 1980,

respectively (R. 160, 161).

In 1981 Russell was again arrested in Tampa on a grand theft charge, which was subsequently dismissed on defense motion pursuant to 3.190(c)(4), Fla.R.Cr.P. Again represented by Mr. Blunt, Russell obtained a court order sealing judicial records of that arrest on July 6, 1982 (R. 161, 162).\(^1\)/ Later, in 1984, Russell was arrested on felony charges of possession of cocaine and paraphernalia. Prosecutors issued a Letter of Release to Russell in connection with the charges, and he obtained an order sealing the judicial records on December 4, 1984 (R. 163-164). According to Russell, these court orders also sealed or ordered destroyed the records of criminal justice agencies other than the court, such as the Tampa Police Department (R. 160-166). Upon the Herald's motion, the Tampa trial court unsealed all records, judicial and non-judicial, as to Russell's 1981 and 1984 charges.\(^2\)/ Russell appealed.\(^3\)/

The Second District Court of Appeal reversed. In its opinion, the court held that henceforth in considering requests to seal judicial records, "in order for section 943.058 to be constitu-

^{1/} Russell apparently later learned that the Florida Department of Law Enforcement maintained some public record of his 1981 arrest and obtained an additional sealing order from the court in November 1983 (R. 162).

 $^{^2}$ / The trial court also denied Russell's motion to require the Herald to reveal its sources and to hold the Herald in contempt of court for having published information relating to Russell's Tampa criminal history (R. 181).

³/ The Herald appealed the trial court's refusal to unseal the court's records concerning Russell's 1979 firearm arrest.

tional," courts must apply the three-part test established by the United States Supreme Court in Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of California, County of Riverside, 478 U.S. 1, 106 S.Ct. 2735 (1986) ("Press Enterprise II"), for sealing of court records or proceedings generally. As the Second District noted, the Florida Supreme Court has enunciated a similar three-part test which the proponent of closure must meet for sealing of court records to be permissible. See Bundv v. State, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. However the Second District further held that, because 1984). Russell's court files had been sealed for several years, his sealing orders were entitled to a "presumption of correctness." Thus, as to requests to unseal court files previously sealed or "expunged,"4 the Second District held applicable a "modified" Press-Enterprise test in which the burden of proof falls upon the proponent of access: (1) vacation of the expunction order would serve the public interest; (2) there is a "substantial probability" that, in absence of vacation of the closure order, the public interest would be harmed; and (3) no less restrictive alternatives are available. The court then remanded the case to the trial court for application to the court files of the new "unsealing" test. 5/

On remand, the Tampa trial court refused to unseal any of the Russell court files. That ruling is presently on appeal to the

^{4/} Under <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1976), court files are not destroyed (the literal meaning of "expunged") but are only sealed. <u>See also Fla.R.Cr.P.</u> 3.692.

⁵/ The Second District also reversed that portion of the trial court's order unsealing non-judicial records because the Herald had not sought that relief. Russell, 570 So.2d at 983.

Second District in that court's Case No. 90-03242. A separate motion filed by the Times shortly after the remand hearing is also the subject of an on-going appeal in the Second District, in its Case No. 91-00630. The Times' motion sought vacation of the Tampa court's orders to the extent that they sealed or expunged the records in the hands of law enforcement agencies other than the court relating Russell's 1979, 1981 and 1984 Tampa arrests.

11. The Orlando files and proceedings.

In the Spring of 1991, well after the Tampa trial court hearings and some months after the Second District appeals had been under way, the Times discovered that in addition to the sealed files in Tampa, there was reason to believe Russell previously had obtained three other sealing orders, sealing records of three other incidents of arrest in the Ninth Judicial Circuit (Orlando, Florida) (R. 81-84, 102-103). On May 9, 1991, the Times and Herald filed a motion in the Ninth Judicial Circuit seeking an order unsealing all Ninth Circuit Court files relating to John Lewis Russell, III (R. 81-194).6/

The motion was captioned "State of Florida v. John Lewis Russell, III" and bore only one case number, "77-1096" (R. 81). It sought access to the court's records based on the constitutional and common law principles of openness enunciated by the United States Supreme Court in the Press Enterprise case and by the Florida Supreme Court in Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426

⁶/ On the same day, the Times and Herald moved to stay their Second District appeals and for remand of those cases to the Tampa trial court for presentation of new evidence (R. 33).

So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982), and also based on the specific circumstances involved in the <u>Russell</u> cases then pending in the Second District:

(a) it had already been conceded by Russell in court that he had obtained **orders** sealing four criminal court files in the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit; (b) there was reason to believe that Russell had obtained three additional sealing orders in the Ninth Judicial Circuit; and (c) the existence of previously sealed files in Orlando never before had been mentioned by Russell or his lawyer at any stage of the then two-year-old proceedings on the Tampa sealed files. (R. 82-83, 91, 94-96). Exhibits to the Times' and Herald's motion included Russell's Initial Brief to the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Russell v. Miami Herald Publishing Co.</u>, 570 So.2d 979, and a portion of the transcript of the April 20, 1989 hearing on the Herald's earlier motion before the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit (R. 156-194).

Upon the receipt of the Times' and Herald's motion, the Ninth Circuit Clerk of Court located <u>two</u> sealed court files: in addition to the file bearing case number CR-77-1096, the clerk located a file for a case numbered CR-75-3275 (R. 5). A copy of the motion and notice of a May 20, 1991 hearing before the Honorable George A. Sprinkel, IV, the Ninth Circuit Court Judge assigned to hear the motion, were served on Russell's counsel, Richard Blunt, who without question received the papers and has and continues to represent Russell in the Tampa and Second District cases (R. 23, 100, 195-196).

Counsel for the Times and Herald, the State of Florida, and

a

Russell appeared at the time scheduled for the hearing. Judge Sprinkel had in his possession at that time two case files, CR-77-1096 and CR-75-3275. The court announced from the bench that CR-77-1096 concerned a 1977 grand theft charge and CR-75-3275 concerned a 1975 worthless check charge. According to the court, both of these cases were sealed pursuant to an order dated February 4, 1980 (R. 5, 74-75).7/ At the time of the hearing counsel for Russell, Mr. Blunt, filed in his own name as the movant, a "Motion to Question the Jurisdiction of the Court and Motion to Quash Movants (sic) Motion to Intervene"; the trial court denied this motion and proceeded to consider whether the files should be unsealed (R. 197-199, 202).8/

Russell's attorney admitted to the trial court that the Orlando sealings had not been brought to the Tampa courts' attention during the Thirteenth Circuit and Second District proceedings on the newspaper's motions for access to the Tampa files and records (R. 31, 49-50), but argued that neither he nor

^{7/} The Times' and Herald's motion also stated upon information and belief that there existed a sealed file concerning Russell relating to charges of carrying a concealed weapon and disorderly conduct in 1975 (R. 83). No such court file was located in advance of the hearing, and its case number, if any, was unknown to the court at that time (R. 200-201).

 $^{^8\!\!/}$ In rejecting Mr. Blunt's argument that it had no jurisdiction to consider the motion to unseal its files, the trial court noted that Mr. Blunt, Russell's attorney in the Tampa and Second District proceedings, appeared at the hearing on Russell's behalf, filed a motion, and subsequently argued on behalf of Russell against the Times' and Herald's motion (R. 202). Thus, the court found it not only had jurisdiction to consider the disposition of its own files, it had also sufficiently accorded Mr. Russell the opportunity to be heard.

his client had any obligation to disclose the three Ninth Circuit sealings at that time:

[I]t is up to the 2nd DCA now whether or not they think the alleged new Orange County problems the press is saying happened -- I'm not admitting to -- would be relevant. I'm not admitting it is the same person. I'm not admitting it happened, I'm not admitting the people (sic) that they think is over here is the same person, I'm not admitting to anything. And the beauty of it, your Honor, is that the law permits me to do that.

(R. 33-34). In fact, as the Record shows, Russell's attorney admitted Russell in fact <u>never</u> specifically revealed the existence of the Orlando sealings to the Tampa trial courts, not even on the numerous occasions Russell sought sealings and expunctions from the Tampa courts, where at least with regard to the sealing orders entered in 1980 and 1982, Russell was represented by Mr. Blunt (R. 31, 47, 49-50; 161-163).9/

а

a

In a written order rendered May 30, 1991, the trial court granted the Times' and Herald's motion to intervene and to consolidate the criminal cases against Russell for purposes of the access question, and granted the Times' and Herald's request to unseal the files (R. 200-206). In doing so, the trial court recognized, as the Times' and Herald's motion had disclosed, that there were at least three different inquiries or "tests" potentially applicable to whether the files should be sealed: the three-part constitutional inquiry established by the United States Supreme Court in Press Enterprise (II) and the similar test established by

 $^{^9/}$ Mr. Blunt has stated that he knew nothing of the Orlando sealed files (R. $3\,9).$ The Petitioners are in possession of no facts showing otherwise.

this Court in Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982); the "good cause" inquiry suggested, prior to Lewis, in Johnson v. State, 336 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1976); and the Second District's test created in the Russell case, 570 So.2d 979 (R. 202-204). Choosing to apply the test most onerous to the Times and Herald, that created by the Second District Court of appeal in Russell, the court nevertheless granted the motion, ruling that the vacating of orders sealing the Ninth Circuit files serves the public interest; that in absence of the vacating of these orders there is a substantial probability that the public interest would be harmed; and that there is no less restrictive alternative that would adequately protect and serve the interests at stake here (R. 204). The trial court stated:

The Court is guided by the concurrence of Judge Altenbernd of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Russell [v. Miami Herald Pub-lishing Co.</u>, 570 So.2d **979** (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)], supra. As he points out, it serves the public interest for the Court to vacate a sealing order obtained upon fraudulent <u>Id.</u> at **984**. evidence of entitlement to it. While it does not appear that Russell obtained the sealing orders at issue here upon "fraudulent evidence" it does appear that he did not fully disclose their existence to the Tampa courts when seeking sealing and expungement of the records of subsequent criminal charges in that jurisdiction and that this failure bears on the question of whether those Tampa records should now be unsealed. The courts considering whether to unseal Russell's subsequently incurred criminal charges must do so with all of the facts in hand.

а

Furthermore, Russell has had numerous contacts with the criminal justice system since his initial arrest in this circuit -- at least six contacts resulting in his arrest. It therefore does not appear that Russell --

in **Judge** Altenbernd's words, the beneficiary of "judicial grace" in the form of artificial erasure of history -- did not profit from that grace. There is no longer any reason to keep records of his criminal charges secret from the public.

(R. 204-205).

The trial court further provided that the files would remain sealed for thirty days to give Russell time to appeal if he wished; on June 26, 1991, Russell timely filed notice of his appeal to the Fifth District Court (R. 205-208), represented again by Mr. Blunt.

In an opinion issued February 7, 1992, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order unsealing the criminal court files. In doing so, the court framed and decided the issue as follows, on the authority of <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 338 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1976):

The question before us is whether properly sealed court records remain "public records" within the meaning of our statutes and constitution. We hold that they do not. They are former public records, now sealed, subject to being reopened as public records upon "good cause shown."

Russell V. Times Publishing Co., 592 So.2d 808, 809 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). The court concluded that no "good cause" had been pled or evidence offered, and remanded the case with directions to continue the files under seal. In a footnote the court queried whether Florida's constitutional right of privacy "attach(ed) to those records once public but now sealed?" but noted that neither party had briefed or argued the issue. Id. at 809 n.2.

Thereafter, the Times, the Herald, and the State timely filed their Notice of Intent to **Seek** Discretionary Review by this Court

on the ground that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision expressly and directly conflicted with decisions of this Court and other district courts of appeal. On July 15, 1992, this Court issued its order accepting jurisdiction. 10/

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case, along with the decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal in Russell v. Miami Herald Publishing Co., 570 So.2d 979 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), and the First District Court of Appeal in Resha v. Tucker, 17 F.L.W. D1328 (Fla. 1st DCA, May 22, 1992), ignores more than a decade of this Court's and the United States Supreme Court's precedent. The Supreme Courts of the United States and the State of Florida have held that the law requires a party seeking to prohibit public inspection of court files to establish, at the least, a compelling interest necessitating closure, that closure will be effective in protecting this interest, and that there is available to accomplish this protection no alternative means less

 $^{^{10}}$ / After the Ninth Circuit hearing but before the court had reduced its decision to writing, the Second District Court of Appeal granted the newspapers' motions to stay the appeals in both cases pending there and relinquished jurisdiction to the Tampa trial court for sixty days. The court extended its remand until resolution of Russell's appeal in the Fifth District Court of Appeal after the Fifth District denied a motion to expedite the briefing schedule filed by the Times, the Herald and the State. Upon notification that the Fifth District Court of Appeal had reversed the Ninth Circuit Court's order unsealing the court files, the Second District Court of Appeal withdrew its remand order and directed that the briefing schedule in the cases pending there Those cases have now been fully briefed but oral argument has not yet been scheduled. The Second District has been notified that this Court accepted the Fifth District's decision for review.

restrictive to the public's access rights. The district courts have refused to apply this test.

The district court decisions establish a class of criminal court files for which the rules are entirely different -- those sealed along with executive branch records pursuant to a motion based on some version of Florida's "sealing and expunction statute" and Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.692 and 3.989. The First, Second and Fifth Districts' decisions placing on the public the burden of showing why access to court records should be granted contravene the higher courts! precedent without any appropriate reason, and impermissibly burden the public's First Amendment and Florida common law rights of access to judicial records concerning completed criminal prosecutions. In such cases, and particularly in this case, the honor and integrity of the judicial system and public's ability to fulfill its obligation to monitor government depends on access to judicial records.

The circuit and district courts of this State appear to have largely misunderstood this Court's decisions concerning separation of powers and public access to court files. As a result of the confusion, there exist a significant number of court files, spanning three decades, to which the lower courts consider inapplicable well-established First Amendment and common law access rules. Significantly, with few exceptions, Florida's sealing and expunction statute states that citizens who have obtained its relief may lawfully deny they have ever been arrested; it has also resulted in mass destruction of executive branch records, leaving

the judiciary the sole accurate, but now inaccessible, repository of history.

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