OA 1-7-93 FILED

SEP 8 1992

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLE	RK, SUPREME CO	URT
Bv_		
,	Chief Deputy Clerk	

TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, MIAMI HERALD PUBLISHING COMPANY and THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO. 79,496

JOHN LEWIS RUSSELL, III,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, JOHN LEWIS RUSSELL, III

Richard S. Blunt FBN 228435 110 South Armenia Avenue Tampa, Florida 33609 (813) 253-3104 Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First Amendment arguments submitted by the Petitioners are misplaced. First Amendment considerations can only be given to legislatively created encroachments on freedom of the press. Inasmuch as <u>judicial</u> record keeping cannot be the proper subject matter of legislation, the common law concept of closing court records when the ends of justice may be served (as recognized in <u>Johnson</u> and <u>Russell</u> I) cannot run afoul of the First Amendment because it is a judicially, not legislatively, created concept. What does apply is the Petitioners' common law right of access argument. There is a significant difference. What this Court needs to determine is whether society has a greater interest allowing trial court judges discretion to order the

occassional closure of judicial records to alleviate incorrect governmental activity (e.g. a bad arrest), or should the Petitioners' argument in this case put an end to what the <u>Johnson</u> court recognized as a valuable asset to society. Make no mistake about it, accepting the Petitioners' argument would, of necessity, require a reversal of Johnson, and totally eliminate the inherent power of the courts to minimize the negative effects of a publicly available criminal history record of a person improperly accused.

Is it possible for this court to continue to allow discretionary closures yet not recede from the firmly entrenched body of law developed in the 1980s such as Barroq v. Florida Freedom Newspapers, 531 So.2d 113 (Fla. 1988), Bundy v. State, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984), Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1982) et al.? Certainly. Consistent with Johnson, the court's historically based tradition of discretionary sealing of completed criminal cases where the defendants have been improperly accused are factually and legally distinguishable from those cases under the purview of Barron, Bundy and Lewis. The common law access considerations as set forth in those cases are cogent and are designed to preserve the public's right to an open judicial process. As recognized in the case law, common law access and even First Amendment rights of the public and representatives of the press are

not absolute. As pointed out by this Court in <u>Barron</u> (atp. 117), while a strong presumption of openness exists, the law has established numerous exceptions to protect competing interests. This case will require the Court to balance the desirability of continuing to permit trial judges to exercise the inherent, discretionary ability to seal judicial records against the countervailing interests of the press.

The facts of this case also give this Court the opportunity to apply Florida's privacy amendment to closed judicial criminal history records. The entire purpose of discretionary sealing done pursuant to common law traditon or by statute is to allow an improperly accused person the legal right to "privatize" certain personal information, that is, the right to deny criminal history. This right is even codified by statute. If this Court were to accept the privacy concept, placing the burden on the opponent of closure when an effort is made to vacate previously closed judicial criminal history records would make even more sense and support the "good cause" rationale of Johnson.

ARGUMENT

I. The Fifth District Court's decision follows <u>Johnson</u> and can be reconciled with other Florida and United States Supreme Court decisions.

In rejecting the Petitioners' request that the Orange County judicial files allegedly belonging to the Respondent be opened, the District Court had little trouble deciding that inasmuch as the Petitioners were attempting to change the status quo, the Petitioners would have the burden of That court was not at all interested in the proof. allegation that Russell had received subsequent closure relief in Hillsporough County. What the Fifth District said to the Petitioners is this: if you want to be successful in unsealing previously sealed judicial files, under Johnson you are going to have to come forward with evidence of "good cause". The records you are after have been under seal for two decades. They are no longer public records and the original trial court orders which sealed those files has the benefit of a presumption of correctness. You did not either plead, or offer proof of, "good cause". Merely showing up at the trial court and wanting access to nonpublic judicial records is insufficient. And it does not matter if there is more than one closed record.

The issue addressed by the Fifth District in <u>Russell</u> II was essentially the same issue addressed by the Second District in <u>Russell</u> I. The Second District apparently felt obliged to also address the issue of the constitutionality of the sealing statute, in addition to what is the appropriate test for the unsealing of judicial criminal files. But the constitutionality of sections 943.058 or the former 901.33 <u>Fla. Stat</u>. are not the issue with the facts of this particular case. Putting that issue aside, then, the

common ground between Russell I and Russell II is how they treated the issue of burden of proof (i.e." presumption of correctness" in Russell I's language), and what is the proper test for unsealing judicial records. On the burden of proof aspect of the decisions, both courts agreed. Petitioners, as movants, had the burden. In Russell I, the Second District announced it's newly fashioned three part test and remanded the case back down to the trial court for proceedings consistent with that test. A subsequent Hillsborough County trial court hearing was held, at which the Petitioners again presented no proof in support of their position. No proof to meet the three part test. No proof to meet the "good cause" requirement under Johnson. proof of anything. That decision is currently on appeal by the Petitioners to the Second District. No doubt that this Court's decision in this case will effect, or totally control, that district court proceeding.

The Fifth District handled the issue with considerably less complexity. The burden remained with the Petitioners, but the test came directly from <u>Johnson</u>. Curiously, the Fifth District did not even mention <u>Russell</u> I. The only other case in Florida to consider these issues now comes from **the** First District Court of Appeal in Resha v. Tucker, 600 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1992), which disposed of the issue in a fashion which was similar to the treatment **afforded** by the Fifth District in <u>Russell</u> I, i.e., burden on

opponent of closure, no "good cause" shown. In summary then, all of the district courts agree that the burden in these types of proceedings is on the opponent of closure, the First and Fifth Districts follow the <u>Johnson</u> "good cause" inquiry, and the Second District has fashioned a **three** part test centered around the public interest.

It took the Petitioners forty eight pages to express one main point. They believe that First Amendment and common law access principles which place the burden of proof on the proponent of closure, as developed by federal and state courts in the 1980s, render this Court's ruling in Johnson obsolete, and the district courts' rulings in Russell I, Russell II and Resha simply wrong.

The Petitioners make a concerted effort to attach First Amendment considerations to this case. The First Amendment addresses itself exclusively to legislatively created infringements on the press and, since this case revolves around the inherent power of the court to seal its own records, the entire body of First Amendment law cited by the Petitioners is misplaced. Which is not to say that common law access considerations differ in every respect. They do not. However, the cases seem to suggest that, at least when the issue is whether the press has the right to attend a pretrial suppression hearing, if the court's decision does not have to be based upon constitutional provisions, but on common law access principles, Florida courts have "more"

leeway" in determining disputed issues. <u>Lewis</u> at **p.** 6 citing <u>Gannett Co. v. DePasquale</u>, 443 U.S. 368, **99 S.Ct. 2898 (1979).**

The broad question in this case is whether or not Florida trial judges can use their discretion to seal judicial criminal history records without running afoul of the press' right of common law access to judicial proceedings and records. It seems to Russell that when this question is answered, a resolution of the other, more narrow, question presented, who has the burden and what is the test for unsealing records, can be answered. If this court were to decide that press access to records is more important to society than the ability of a judge to seal a court record of an individual wrongfully accused, then the burden of vacating prior sealing orders should logically fall upon the proponent of closure. In that circumstance, the burden on the proponent of closure would be impossible to meet. <u>Johnson</u> would have to be reversed, and the Florida "tradition" of discretionary sealings would be at an end. Additionally, if this were the Court's ruling, then most certainly Florida's sealing and expungement statutes would be unconstitutional, and the press could, and would, then proceed back to the trial courts to unseal every judicial file ever sealed. This case could very well result in havoc, a clerk of the court's nightmare. And all for what? A very much for-profit Florida newspaper's burning desire to

know what is in those files. That's it. There has been no fraud or perjury pled or proved (Russell I, Resha). There has been no allegation or proof of judicial misconduct. All we have here is an editorial board of a wealthy, conservative newspaper whose opinion it is that Florida law should not permit a person to benefit from an act of judicial grace.

I say it again, bad facts make bad law. Russell has bad facts. The Petitioners know this and are undoubtedly banking on the hope that the members of this Court will not have an excess of sympathy for an individual who has received three, possibly more, record closures. But the principle behind this case could just as easily have been litigated by someone with only one closure. Or maybe not even one, but someone who was petitioning for his first judicial records closure. The Petitioners' rather obvious strategy is to throw plenty of eggs at Russell (i.e. detail for this Court the entire history of Russell's intercourse with the criminal justice system and all of his, alleged, closures), with the hope that the Petitioners' indignation would infect the Court to the extent that the Court will forget that these facts are the exception, certainly not the rule, and decide that society's interest in permitting the trial judges to close judicial records for improperly accused people is outweighed by public's right to completely unfettered access to judicial records. That result would be like throwing the baby away with the bath water.

It has not happened very often in nearly four years of litigation, but Russell has to agree with the Petitioners on one point. On page 12 of their Initial Brief, Petitioners state that the "district court decisions establish a class of criminal court files for which the rules are completely different..." But here is where the agreement stops. They continue that such a distinction is "without reason".

Public access cases, and even true First Amendment cases, all discuss the basic principle that whereas a strong presumption exists for openness of judicial proceedings and records, the law has established numerous exceptions to protect competing, overriding interests. Courts must balance the rights and interests of the parties to the litigation with those of the public and the press. Barron at p. 117; Lewis passim; Press Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court (I), 464 U.S. 501, 104 S.Ct. 819 (1984) at p. 824; Press Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court (11), 478 U.S. 1, 106 S.Ct. 2735 (1986) at p. 2741.

The Barren court possibly covered the most bases when it discussed the many areas in the law where closure may be permitted. That court envisioned permissable closure when, among other considerations, a party could show it was necessary "to comply with public policy set forth in the constitution, statutes, rules or case law", "to avoid

substantial injury to a party by disclosure of matters protected by a common law or privacy right...", of a party could establish a "constitutional right of privacy" Barron p. 118. The Respondent would submit that he meets all three of these criteria. The value of the court's ability to seal judicial criminal history records where justice would be served simply, and clearly, outweighs the interest of the public, as represented by the press, in keeping all judicial records open for inspection under any circumstance.

Ironically, it would seem that both interests which have to be balanced in this case are truly, or at least apparently, public interests. On the one hand, the Johnson court speaks of the value to society of discretionary sealing of criminal judicial records to people improperly accused. On the other hand is the well established common law principle which supports open judicial proceedings and records. The press, as self-appointed and self-interested spokesman for the public (at least nominally), is essentially advocating that the courts should not be permitted to seal judicial records for the benefit of deserving members of the public no matter how unwarranted the arrest or prosecution might have been, no matter how damaging the resulting criminal history record might turn out to be to the individual. The Times and Herald are really not concerned about what is in the best interests of the public, their main concern is selling newspapers.

press is hardly an unbiased, objective representative of the people. Here, society's interests seemingly collide. The Petitioners cannot see the forest through the trees, they are wolves in sheeps' clothing, as it were.

The narrow issue presented in this case is whether or not the district courts were correct in placing the burden of proof on the Petitioners, and what test should a court use when asked to unseal judicial records. It is hard to envision how this Court could answer those questions without discussing the inherent common law right of a court to seal its own records in the first place as recognized in Johnson. As stated earlier, the Respondent does not believe that the facts of this case call for an analysis of the constitutionality of the sealing statute, or the validity of Russell's executive agency record closures closed pursuant to statute.

At the outset, it should be pointed out that as a result of the language the Second District utilized in Russell I, i.e. the three part test, some Hillsborough County criminal trial judges are now requiring a first time otherwise qualified petitioning defendant to come forward with evidence of "compelling reasons" for a closure to be ordered. It is a burden which is as hard to define as it is to actually meet. To say the least, in the Second District, because of the extra burden placed on defendants courtesy of what is essentially dicta in Russell I, closure of judicial

criminal records pursuant to either the statute or common law is nearly impossible to achieve. Currently pending in the Second District are numerous cases where the State is appealing first time sealings granted by the trial courts where the State is maintaining that those defendants did not show sufficiently compelling reasons, under Russell I, to justify the sealing order. This Court has the opportunity to clarify this situation if it chooses to discuss the legality of discretionary sealings in completed criminal case where justice requires.

What would be the state of the law should this Court decide only the narrow issue of burden and test of an application to unseal without addressing the probably more important issue of the inherent power of the court to seal its own files in the first place? If the Court simply holds that the district courts were correct in placing the burden on the Petitioners, and the "good cause" test as per Johnson, Russell II and Resha is still appropriate, or even if the law as stated by the Second District in Russell I is accepted, by implication only will this Court have issued guidance to the lower courts when they are asked to seal the judicial criminal history records of a first time petitioner.

What would be the ramifications if **this** Court decides **that** the district courts have improperly placed the burden on the press, and, upon a motion to vacate requires the

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